EcoHealth Economic Valuation Framework Quantifying the Health Return on Investments in Greenspace

Survey Design: Credit Valley Conservation Authority

DECEMBER 2020

Prepared for the Greenbelt Foundation and EcoHealth Ontario in partnership with Punjabi Community Health Services and Credit Valley Conservation Authority

By Green Analytics Corp.

Corresponding author, Jeffrey Wilson

Credit Valley Conservation EcoHealth Economic Valuation Framework Quantifying the Health Return on Investments in Greenspace. Survey Design: Credit Valley Conservation Authority

Copyright © 2020 Greenbelt Foundation

All Rights Reserved

Prepared for the Greenbelt Foundation and EcoHealth Ontario in partnership with Punjabi Community Health Services and Credit Valley Conservation Authority

By Green Analytics Corp.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Greenbelt Foundation 661 Yonge Street, Suite 500 Toronto, Ontario M4Y 1Z9 Canada

Tel (416) 960-0001 Fax (416) 960-0030 info@greenbelt.ca www.greenbelt.ca

The views and opinions expressed in this report are those of the authors only and do not necessarily represent the views of The Greenbelt Foundation, their Officers or Directors. We have done our best to confirm that all facts and figures are accurate. However, we do not retain liability for any errors or misrepresentations.

Possibility grows here.

Contents

1.	Background	4
2.	Framework Overview	6
3.	Mental Wellness Benefits	8
4.	Survey Design	9
	4.1. Pre-program Survey for Participants	9
	4.2. Post-program Survey for Participants	9
	4.3. Program Administrator Survey	9
5.	Economic Value Calculations	10
	5.1. Economic Value of Improved Mental Wellness	10
	5.2. Economic Value of Improved Life Satisfaction	11
6.	Supporting Research	12
7.	Appendices	13
	7.1. Appendix 1: Pre-program Survey for Participants	13
	7.2. Appendix 2: Post-program Survey for Participants	17
	7.3. Appendix 3: Program Administrator Survey	19
8.	References	21

1. Background

Punjabi Community Health Services (PCHS) is a health service provider organization with a mandate to improve the quality of life of the community members. Since 1990, PCHS has been actively engaging community members in health-centred programs to address the needs of seniors and people with mental health issues and addictions by offering education and awareness opportunities through a family-centric approach. Through a grassroots level community engagement model, PCHS has positioned itself to provide culturally specific programming to the South Asian community in the Peel region. The organization has branches in Mississauga, Brampton, Calgary and Punjab, India.

PCHS, in association with Credit Valley Conservation Authority (CVC), has developed a mental health program with the goal to engage 200 seniors from the South Asian ethnic community who meet periodically during the week to encourage them to participate actively in nature-based programming. Seniors involved with PCHS speak Punjabi, Hindi, Urdu and English. Most of these seniors live in and around the built environment where access to greenspaces is limited to playgrounds or small neighbourhood trails.

The proposed programming includes a PowerPoint presentation/video to educate and build awareness of seniors around local greenspaces, followed by guided walks and nature-based activities in the Terra Cotta Conservation Area. As part of the programming, seniors will have opportunities to engage in mindfulness exercises, yoga in the forest, games using elements of nature and natural materials, poetry, storytelling, singing, and dancing. In addition, participants would be led on walking tours in their local communities. Table 1 outlines details of proposed activities and time schedules.

TABLE 1: List of activities and time schedules

NO.	ACTIVITIES	DURATION	LENGTH OF TIME IN NATURE		
1	Trip to Terra Cotta Seniors from PCHS Brampton	9:00 a.m 2:00 p.m.	3 Hours		
2	Trip to Terra Cotta Seniors from PCHS Mississauga	9:00 a.m 2:00 p.m.	3 Hours		
3	Trip to Terra Cotta Seniors from PCHS Malton	9:00 a.m 2:00 p.m.	3 Hours		
4	Trip to Terra Cotta Seniors from PCHS Caledon	9:00 a.m 2:00 p.m.	3 Hours		
5	Presentation at PCHS Monday AM	11 a.m 12:00 a.m.	N/A		
6	Presentation at PCHS Tuesday AM	11 a.m 12:00 a.m.	N/A		
7	Presentation at PCHS Tuesday PM	1:00 p.m 2:00 p.m. N/A			
8	Presentation at PCHS Wednesday AM	11 a.m 12:00 a.m.	N/A		
9	Presentation at PCHS Thursday AM	11 a.m 12:00 a.m.	N/A		
10	Presentation at PCHS Thursday PM	1:30 p.m 2:30 p.m.	N/A		
11	Presentation at PCHS Friday AM	11 a.m 12:00 a.m.	N/A		
12	Presentation at PCHS Friday PM	12:00 p.m 1:00 p.m.	N/A		
13	Walking Tour Close to the PCHS Center, Brampton	12:00 p.m 2:00 p.m.	1 Hour		
14	Walking Tour Close to the PCHS Center, Mississauga	12:00 p.m 2:00 p.m.	1 Hour		
15	Walking Tour Close to the PCHS Center, Malton	12:00 p.m 2:00 p.m.	1 Hour		
16	Walking Tour Close to the PCHS Center, Caledon	12:00 p.m 2:00 p.m.	1 Hour		

The proposed budget to deliver the activities is \$7,700, which includes transportation costs (bus rental), staffing costs, program development and administration costs.

2. Framework Overview

.....

The economic framework developed to support this case study links greenspace investments to improvements in health and well-being resulting in, for example, health system savings, prevented lost productivity associated with poor health and illness, and reduced mortality. Figure 1 demonstrates the connection between greenspace investments and health and wellbeing returns on investment.

The conceptual framework provides analysts and decision-makers information on the ecohealth benefits of potential greenspace investments when evaluating policies, programs and actions. It is meant to enhance the decision-making process by complementing other factors and information under consideration. The conceptual framework makes links between greenspace investments, health outcomes, and economic benefits to inform the decision-making process.

GREENSPACE INTERVENTION	GREENSPACE FACTOR CHANGED	RESPONSE/ PATHWAY	HEALTH AND WELLBEING BENEFITS/ OUTCOMES	ECONOMIC BENEFITS
Mental Health	Duration of visits	Increase in Use	Mental Health	Mental Wellness Benefits
Program with Outdoor Experience	• Frequency of visits	(change in time spent in greenspace)	 Lower rates of depressions Stress reduction Improved cognitive function Higher social engagement Improved life satisfaction 	Avoided cost of losses of productivity and losses in health-related quality of life from morbidity

FIGURE 1: Investing in the development of an outdoor mental health program

Assigning a monetary value to greenspace investments is challenging, given the difficulties in identifying quantifiable health outcomes attributed to a policy, program, or planning decision. The evidence connecting greenspace investments to health outcomes is strongest in the following three areas:

- 1. Physical health improvements associated with higher levels of physical activity
- 2. Mental health improvements associated with spending time in nature
- 3. Health improvements associated with reduced exposure to air pollution (specifically reduced respiratory symptoms and incidences of cardiovascular disease) and avoided health system costs and lost productivity associated with extreme heat

The approach applied in this case study relies on a number of assumptions supported by evidence from the literature. These assumptions draw on the most robust and well-regarded studies or integrate consistent trends shown across studies. The approach also structures the calculations in such a way that the model could be refined in the future as more locally relevant data becomes available or to reflect changes in assumptions or new knowledge.

.

3. Mental Wellness Benefits

.....

A strong body of academic literature indicates that spending time in a natural environment promotes health and wellbeing (Summary of supporting data is available in Section 7). The proposed mental health program is designed to bring mental wellness improvements to the Punjabi community.

The mental wellness benefits that result from participating in the program will also generate economic value. The improved mental wellness condition of program participants will reduce direct and indirect costs (e.g., healthcare costs, insurance costs, loss of productivity, etc.) related to mental health problems and illness. Participants' gains in life satisfaction can also be quantified and measured by the replacement cost of experiencing a similar improvement in life satisfaction.

.....

4. Survey Design

Three surveys (two participant surveys and one program administrator survey) were developed to capture the data necessary to populate the economic framework. The participant surveys are designed to collect background information, health status and program benefits. The administrator survey is designed to record details of each individual daily session and to gather feedback from session participants and program leads.

4.1. Pre-program Survey for Participants

The pre-program survey includes five sub-sections that collect information on demographics, pre-event life satisfaction, health status, leisure and cultural life, and living environments. The pre-program survey form is attached in Appendix 1.

4.2. Post-program Survey for Participants

The post-program survey includes three sub-sections that collect information on participants' post-event health status, post-event life satisfaction and event feedback. Some of the questions on health status and life satisfaction are identical to questions in the pre-survey. The post-program survey should be distributed to participants upon completion of the outdoor sessions. The post-program survey form is attached in Appendix 2.

4.3. Program Administrator Survey

The program administrator survey is designed to collect information about the number of participants, total time spent in natural environments, outdoor activities organized, and feedback received during each daily session. Section A should be completed during the presentation. Section B should be completed during outdoor activities. Section C should be completed at the end of each daily session. The program administrator survey form is attached in Appendix 3.

5. Economic Value Calculations

.....

This section outlines the general methodologies and examples of estimating the economic value of various health benefits resulting from participating in the PCHS mental health program.

5.1. Economic Value of Improved Mental Wellness

Self-reported life satisfaction, happiness, and improved mental wellbeing are associated with spending time in greenspaces. By spending time in natural environments, the program participants are expected to experience improvement in their overall mental wellbeing. Improved mental wellness leads to direct savings (e.g., healthcare costs) and indirect savings (e.g., productivity loss).

This approach measures participants' improvement in mental wellness by quantifying the survey results of two mental health-related questions: the pre-survey question C2 and post-survey question F5. The questions provide a measurement of participants' self-reported mental wellbeing before and after the program. The improvement in participants' mental wellbeing should be quantified into percentages by assigning scores to answers of question C2 and F5 (e.g., Assuming scores with a linear relationship are applied to those questions' answers - Excellent = 100, Very good = 75, Good = 50, Fair = 25, Poor = 0) and measuring the average change for all pre- and post-surveys.

Assuming that the survey results indicate an X% improvement in participants' overall mental wellbeing, the economic value of such progress is calculated following the function below:

Economic Value of Improved Mental Wellness:

= Total number of program participants * Average of percentage improvement in participants' mental wellbeing (X%) * Annual economic burden of mental problems and illness per person (\$1,950)

The first two parts of the function require input from survey results, while the last part is adopted from the literature. Lim and colleagues (2008) estimated that the annual economic burden of mental health problems and illness for Canada in 2003 was \$50,847. Their estimate includes direct medical cost, cost of productivity loss and loss in health utilities. After adjusting for inflation, the amount is equal to \$67,268 million in 2019\$. Per individual, the economic burden of mental illness in Canada is \$1,950.

The proposed calculation provides an estimate of the economic value of improved mental wellness attributed to the avoided economic burden of mental problems and illness.

5.2. Economic Value of Improved Life Satisfaction

Numerous studies attribute spending time in the nature to higher levels of self reported life satisfaction. The economic value of improved life satisfaction can be measured by its replacement cost, i.e. the economic cost required to experience a similar level of improved satisfaction. The most common measurement of replacement cost is to evaluate the amount of income rise (additional wealth) that results in an equivalent increase in life satisfaction scores.

Both the pre-survey and post-survey include a section on participants' life satisfaction. Section B of the pre-survey measures the base level of life satisfaction using the Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS). Section H of the post-survey measures life satisfaction after the outdoor experience offered in the program. By comparing the results of these two survey sections, the administrator would be able to find the average increase in life satisfaction scores.

Assuming that on average, participants' life satisfaction increases by **Y point**, the economic value of such improvement is calculated following the function below:

Economic Value of Improved Life Satisfaction:

= Total number of program participants * Average increase in individual life satisfaction score (**Y point**) * Replacement cost per one unit of life satisfaction score (\$57,200)

The first two parts of the function require input from survey results, while the last part is adopted from the literature. Lora and Chaparro (2008) find that to increase average life satisfaction by one point (on a 0-10 scale) in a developed country, a per capita income rises of US\$26,000 would be needed. When converting to a 1-7 scale, a one-point increase in life satisfaction is equivalent to an approximate CAD\$57,200 (\$2019) increase in annual per capita income.

The calculation provides an estimate of the economic value associated with in increase in life satisfaction. The economic value represents the equivalent amount of wealth increase among participants to enjoy a similar improvement in life satisfaction.

6. Supporting Research

Self-reported life satisfaction, happiness, and improved wellbeing are associated with spending time in nature. Maller, a leading authority on the health benefits of nature, contends that increasing access and exposure to greenspace and natural areas may be the most effective population-wide strategy for promoting mental wellbeing (Maller et al., 2006). Maller's statement reflects over 30 years of research demonstrating that contact with nature reduces stress and increases a sense of personal wellbeing (Hartig et al., 2014; Shanahan et al., 2016). Empirical studies have shown that being in nature reduces cortisol levels and blood pressure (Van den Berg & Custers, 2011; Hartig et al., 2003). While explanatory pathways are not well understood, studies consistently find that people feel better in nature. Contact with nature is positively associated with increased self-esteem, higher life satisfaction, cognitive function and better job performance (Bowler et al., 2010; Bratman et al., 2012; Kaplan & Kaplan, 1989; White et al., 2013). Hazer and colleagues (2018) found an increase in time spent in nature reliably predicts a statistically significant reduction in perceived stress in a population. Shanahan and colleagues (2016) found that individuals who made extended visits to greenspaces had lower rates of depression and high blood pressure. Based on their analysis, visits to outdoor greenspaces of 30 minutes or more during the course of a week could reduce the population prevalence of depression and high blood pressure by up to 7% and 9%, respectively.

The natural environment contributes to human wellbeing in a variety of ways, one of them being the improved life satisfaction for residents. Biedenweg and colleagues (2016) identified eleven environment-specific social indicators that have positive correlations to overall life satisfaction, which include sense of place, outdoor activities, and social and cultural activities. Capaldi and colleagues (2014) also found that those who are more connected to nature usually experience more positive emotions, and higher levels of vitality and life satisfaction compared to those less connected to nature.

Literature also indicates that a positive association exists between greenspaces and mental health. Van den Berg and colleagues (2017) found that purposeful visits to greenspaces are a mediator linking greenness indirectly with mental health. A study by Barton and Rogerson (2017) concluded that spending time in greenspace facilitates interaction and attachment, fosters wellbeing and increases opportunities for green exercise, all of which promote better mental health and wellbeing.

7. Appendices

7.1. Appendix 1: Pre-program Survey for Participants

The pre-program survey should be delivered to participants prior to commencing the program. This survey mainly collects participants' background information.

Section A – Participant Demographics

This section includes questions to collect the basic demographics information of program participants. Questions are adapted from the Canadian Community Health Survey.

A1.	What is your age?
A2.	What is your gender? Male Female Prefer not to say Prefer to self-describe
A3.	Which language(s) do you speak well enough to conduct a conversation? English French Punjabi Hindi Urdu
	Other – please specify

.

Section B - Pre-event Life Satisfaction

This section includes questions to measure the overall level of life satisfaction of program participants. Questions are adapted from the Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS).

Below are five statements that you may agree or disagree with. Using the scale as presented in the table, indicate your agreement with each item by filling in the circle.

		Strongly disagree	Disagree	Slightly disagree	Neither agree of disagree	Slightly agree	Agree	Strongly agree
B1.	In most ways, my life is close to my ideal.	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc
B2.	The conditions of my life are excellent.	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
B3.	l am satisfied with my life.	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
B4.	So far, I have gotten the important things I want in life.	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
B5.	If I could live my life over, I would change almost nothing.	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0

Section C – Healthy Life

This section includes questions to collect information regarding participants' overall health conditions and life habits. Questions are adapted from the Canadian Index of Wellbeing and Nova Scotia Quality of Life Index.

Below are three statements that you may agree or disagree with. Using the scale as presented in the table, indicate your agreement with each item by filling in the circle.

		Strongly disagree	Disagree	Slightly disagree	Neither agree of disagree	Slightly agree	Agree	Strongly agree
С3.	During the past week, I regularly engaged in good quality exercise.	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
C4.	During the past week, I regularly ate healthy meals.	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
C5.	During the past week, I regularly visited green spaces (e.g., parks, trails, community gardens, schoolyards, etc.).	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0	0

Section D – Leisure and Culture

This section includes questions to collect information regarding participants' time spent on leisure and cultural activities. Questions are adapted from the Canadian Index of Wellbeing and Nova Scotia Quality of Life Survey.

For each of the activities listed in the questions below, please indicate the total number of times you participated in each activity in a typical month. If you do not participate in the activity, please report "0" (zero) or leave the space blank.

D1. In a typical month, I would participate in sports (e.g., baseball, badminton, tennis, etc.)

times.

D2. In a typical month, I would be socializing with friends (e.g., chatting with a friend, going for coffee with friends, getting together at friends' home, etc.)

times.

D3. In a typical month, I would attend cultural events (e.g., religious ceremonies/festivals, extended family get togethers and volunteering activities)

times.

D4. In a typical month, I would spend time on my personal hobbies (e.g., reading, knitting, woodworking, etc.)

times.

Section E – Community Environment

This section includes questions to collect information regarding participants' living environment. Questions are adapted from the Canadian Index of Wellbeing and Nova Scotia Quality of Life Survey.

Below are five statements that you may agree or disagree with. Using the scale as presented in the table, indicate your agreement with each item by filling in the circle.

		Strongly disagree	Disagree	Slightly disagree	Neither agree of disagree	Slightly agree	Agree	Strongly agree
E1.	The quality of the natural environment in the community where I live is very high.	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
E2.	There are plenty of opportunities to enjoy nature in the community where I live.	\bigcirc	0	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0
E3.	I am satisfied with the amount of greenspaces (e.g., parks, trails, community gardens, schoolyards, etc.) in the community where I live.	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
E4.	The amount of greenspaces in the community encourages me to stay physically active.	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
E5.	The amount of greenspaces in the community improves my mental wellness.	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc

7.2. Appendix 2: Post-program Survey for Participants

The post-survey should be delivered to participants at the end of the program. This survey collects participants' feedback on benefits received from participating in the program.

Section F – Events Detail

This section includes questions to collect participants' program participation details and general experience.

F1.	How many hours did you spend in natural environments during today's outdoor experience?
F2.	Have you participated in physical exercise (e.g., yoga) during today's outdoor experience?
F3.	Have you participated in group activities (e.g., group games, storytelling, singing, dancing) during today's outdoor experience?
F4.	How likely is it that you would recommend the program to a friend or colleague?
F5.	Overall, how would you rate the program?
F6.	What did you like about the program?
F7.	What did you dislike about the program?
F8.	Since participating in the program have you visited Terra Cotta conservation area on your own, or with friends and family?
	Yes No If Yes, How many times?
F9.	Since participating in the program have you visited other parks, natural areas, or trails?
	Yes No If Yes, How many times?

Section G – Post-program Health

This section includes questions to collect participants' general health status after participating in the program.

G1.	G1. After participating in the program, would you say your physical health is:							
G2.	After participating in the Excellent Very g	program, w ood 🗌 G	ould you sa	y your men ir 🗌 Poor	tal health is:			
G3.	Have you felt any improv	ement in yc	our mental w ter 🗌 l fee	vellness afte el the same	er participati	ng in today	's activities	?
Belo [,] indic	w are four statements tha ate your agreement with	it you may a each item b	igree or disa by filling in t	gree with. l he circle.	Jsing the sca	ale as preser	nted in the	table,
		Strongly disagree	Disagree	Slightly disagree	Neither agree of disagree	Slightly agree	Agree	Strongly agree
G4.	Participating in the program helped me to adopt a more physically active lifestyle.	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
G5.	Participating in the program brought me a sense of belonging in the community.	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
G6.	Spending time in a natural environment makes me feel better.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
G7.	Socializing with other participants makes me feel better.	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc

7.3. Appendix 3: Program Administrator Survey

The program administrator survey is designed for program organizers to record program use.

Section H – Complete Following Presentation

H1.	I. Session Date:	
H2.	2. Today's session was delivered by:	
Н3.	3. Total number of male participants:	
H4.	I. Total number of female participants:	
H5.	5. Before the presentation, what percentage of part	cipants understood the purpose of this program? 5%
H6.	5. After the presentation, what percentage of partic $\square > 75\%$ $\square 50\%$ -75% $\square 25\%$ -50% $\square < 25\%$	ipants understood the purpose of this program? 5%
Sec	ction I – Complete Following Outdoor Activities	
11.	. Total time spent in natural environment:	
12.	Total number of group activities organized:	
13.	Please specify group activities organized:	
14.	. Among all group activities organized today, whic	n one was most popular?
Sec	ction J – Complete when Session Completed	
J1.	• How would you rate the program delivered today	?
	Excellent Very good Good Fai	Poor
J2.	How was your interaction with participants throu	ghout the session today?
	Excellent Very good Good Fai	Poor

J3. Have you received any feedback from participants?

J4. Do you have any feedback regarding program design, time management or engagement with participants?

8. References

- Barton, J., & Rogerson, M. (2017). The importance of greenspace for mental health. BJPsych. International, 14(4), 79-81. doi:10.1192/s2056474000002051
- Berg, M. V., Poppel, M. V., Smith, G., Triguero-Mas, M., Andrusaityte, S., Kamp, I. V., . . . Maas, J. (2017). Does time spent on visits to green space mediate the associations between the level of residential greenness and mental health? *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 25*, 94-102. doi:10.1016/j.ufug.2017.04.010
- Biedenweg, K., Scott, R. P., & Scott, T. A. (2017). How does engaging with nature relate to life satisfaction? Demonstrating the link between environment-specific social experiences and life satisfaction. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 50, 112-124. doi:10.1016/j.jenvp.2017.02.002
- Bowler, D., Buyung-Ali, L., Knight, T., & Pullin, A. 2010. A systematic review of evidence for the added benefits to health of exposure to natural environments. *BMC Public Health*. 10:456.
- Bratman G., Hamilton J., & Daily, G. 2012. The impacts of nature experience on human cognitive function and mental health. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*. 1249(1):118–36.
- Capaldi, C. A., Dopko, R. L., & Zelenski, J. M. (2014). The relationship between nature connectedness and happiness: A meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *5*. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00976
- Hartig, T., Evans, G., Jammer. L., Davis, D., & Garling, T. (2003). Tracking restoration in natural and urban field settings. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*. 23:109–123.
- Hartig, T., Mitchell, R., de Vries, S. & Frumkin, H. (2014). Nature and Health. *Annual Review of Public Health*. 35: 207–228.
- Hazer, M., Formica, M., Dieterlen, S., & Morley, C. 2018. The relationship between self-reported exposure to greenspace and human stress in Baltimore, MD. *Landscape and Urban Planning*. 169: 47-56.
- Kaplan, R. & Kaplan, S. 1989. The Experience of Nature: A Psychological Perspective. University of Nevada, Reno. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge.
- Lim, K. L., Jacobs, P., Ohinmaa, A., Schopflocher, D., & Dewa, C. S. (2008). A new population-based measure of the economic burden of mental illness in Canada. *Chronic diseases in Canada*, 28(3), 92–98.
- Lora, E., & Chaparro, J. (2008). The Conflictive Relationship between Satisfaction and Income. SSRN Electronic Journal. doi:10.2139/ssrn.1820930
- Maller C, Townsend N, Pryor A, Brown P, & Legern, L. (2006). Healthy nature healthy people: 'Contact with nature' as an upstream health promotion intervention for populations. *Health Promotion International*. 21:45–54.

- Shanahan, D., Bush, R., Gaston, K., Lin, B., Dean, J., Barber, E., & Fuller, R. 2016. Health benefits from nature experiences depend on dose. *Scientific Reports*. 6: art. 28551.
- Van den Berg, A., & Custers, M. (2011). Gardening promotes neuroendocrine and affective restoration from stress. *Journal of Health Psychology*. 16: 3–11.
- White, M., Alcock, I., Wheeler, B., & Depledge, M. 2013. Would you be happier living in a greener urban area? A fixed-effects analysis of panel data. *Psychological Science*. 24(6):920–8.

Greenbelt Foundation 661 Yonge Street, Suite 500, Toronto Ontario, M4Y 1Z9, Canada

Tel (416) 960-0001 www.greenbelt.ca

Possibility grows here.